STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JEROME KEITH WEST,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-001002

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

VICTOR R SEEGER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED

Oct 14 2020

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court failed in its gatekeeping function when it allowed Alyssa Rheingold to testify as an expert in criminal domestic dynamics where Rheingold's opinion was predicated on unreliable studies such that her testimony was inherently unreliable?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the November 2017 term, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for domestic violence in the second degree. R. 252.

On June 11-12, 2019, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, and a jury. Tr. 1. Brendan Daniels and Mary Ford represented Appellant. Id. Hannah P. Marsh and Richard Waring represented the state. Id.

The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 229, l. 7 – 230, l. 2. Thereafter, the trial court found Appellant’s conviction constituted a willful violation of his probation. R 248, ll. 10 – 19. Appellant was sentenced to time served¹ and five years of his ten-year probationary sentence was revoked. R 248, l. 20 – 251, l. 25. Appellant was also sentenced to six months’ of “intensive probation.” Id.

This appeal follows.

¹ Appellant had 725 days of time served credit. R. 7, l. 1.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The decision of whether to admit or exclude testimony from an expert witness is within the sound discretion of the circuit court. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006) (citations omitted). The circuit court's decision to admit expert testimony will not be reversed on appeal absent "a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice." State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847–48 (2006) (citations omitted). An abuse of discretion occurs when the circuit court's conclusions "either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 349, 737 S.E.2d 490, 495 (2013) (quoting Douglas, 369 S.C. at 429–30, 632 S.E.2d at 848) (internal quotation marks omitted). "A [circuit] court's ruling on the admissibility of an expert's testimony constitutes an abuse of discretion where the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair." State v. Grubbs, 353 S.C. 374, 379, 577 S.E.2d 493, 496 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing Means v. Gates, 348 S.C. 161, 166, 558 S.E.2d 921, 924 (Ct.App.2001)). To show prejudice, the appellant must prove "that there is a reasonable probability the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof." Fields v. Reg'l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005) (citing Means, 348 S.C. at 166, 558 S.E.2d at 924).

ARGUMENT

The trial court failed in its gatekeeping function when it allowed Alyssa Rheingold to testify as an expert in criminal domestic dynamics where Rheingold's opinion was predicated on unreliable studies such that her testimony was inherently unreliable.

Relevant Facts

On June 17, 2017, Appellant allegedly struck Crystal Ragin in front of Appellant's sister's home. R. 8, ll. 2 – 21. Appellant and Ragin were cohabitating at the time. Id. Appellant's sister had two minor children that were in the home on the night of the incident and the state alleged that they were present for the altercation. Id.; R. 66, ll. 3 – 20.

Appellant's sister, Shanika West, called the police and officer Derek Conkey arrived at the house. R. 82, l. 9 – 85, l. 9. While Appellant was voluntarily leaving with Officer Conkey, he allegedly turned to Ragin and hit her. R. 71, l. 8 – 76, l. 1. Officer Conkey's body camera was operating during the incident and the video is on file with this Court. Id. Although the video is taken from behind Appellant and the viewer cannot clearly see Appellant strike Ragin, Officer Conkey testified that Appellant's movement at the end of the video was him hitting Ragin. Id.; R. 80, ll. 7 – 9.

Crystal Ragin, the alleged victim, stated that she was reluctant to testify against Appellant and had to be subpoenaed to trial. R. 24, l. 22 – 25, l. 15. She explained that she continued to see Appellant after the alleged incident. R. 33, l. 24 – 35, l. 16. She testified that she visited Appellant multiple times while he was incarcerated awaiting trial. Id. She also testified that Appellant apologized for the incident but minimized his involvement. Id. She stated that when she would visit Appellant in jail, she “wanted to just let it go, [and] forgive [him].” Id. Ragin

explained that she initially did not tell police “what really happened” and that she filed a “drop charge form.” Id.

The state sought to admit Alyssa Rheingold as an expert in domestic violence dynamics. R. 154, ll. 9 – 11. Trial counsel objected to her admission as an expert arguing that the studies and statistics Rheingold used for her testimony were inherently unreliable. R. 104, l. 18 – 111, l. 12. Specifically, trial counsel argued the studies Rheingold cited had a “broad definition” of domestic violence that included actions, such as stalking, that are not included under the statutory definition of domestic violence in this state. Id.; R 135, l. 9 – 138, l. 15; R. 160, ll. 6 – 12. That over-broad definition invariably skewed the statistics that Rheingold relied on for her testimony because she included individuals who did not suffer criminal domestic violence as defined under the statute. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-20.

Trial counsel also explained the studies Rheingold relied on had the subjects of the study self-report by phone call. R. 121, ll. 1 – 6; 122, l. 17 – 126, l. 21; R. 160, l. 13 – 161, l. 21. During proffered cross-examination Rheingold admitted that the subjects also reported anonymously, which left no way to corroborate that the anyone in those studies had actually been a victim of domestic violence. R. 137, ll. 15 – 24. Accordingly, since it was impossible to verify the findings of those self-reported, anonymous studies, Rheingold’s testimony on those studies was inherently unreliable. Id.

The court admitted Rheingold to testify as an expert in domestic violence dynamics, over defense counsel’s objection. R. 154, ll. 9 – 11. Rheingold testified about the definition of a domestic violence victim; the demeanor and behavior of domestic violence victims; the impact of trauma; how a “typical victim” reacts; the “conflicting emotions” experienced by victims; why a victim might forgive an abuser; why a victim might stay in the relationship; why it is not

unusual for a victim to fill out a drop charge form; and why it is not unusual for a victim to recant their allegation. R. 130, l. 25 – 136, l. 4; R. 155, l. 7 – 158, l. 7. That testimony lined up with Ragin’s actions in this case, and as a result Appellant was found guilty of criminal domestic violence in the second degree. R. 24, l. 22 – 25, l. 15; R. 33, l. 24 – 35, l. 16; R. 229, l. 7 – 230, l. 2.

Discussion

The trial court failed in its gatekeeping function when it admitted the inherently unreliable “expert” testimony from Alyssa Rheingold regarding domestic violence dynamics. Rheingold’s testimony was predicated on studies with an unverifiable methodology such that the “expert” opinion she testified to, based on those studies, was inherently unreliable under the rules of evidence. R. 122, l. 1 – 126, l. 21; R. 128, l. 24 – 129, l. 6; R. 142, l. 19 – 143, l. 25; SCRE 702.

The trial court serves a gatekeeping function to prohibit the admission of inherently unreliable expert testimony. Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 445–46, 699 S.E.2d 169, 174–75 (2010); Rule 702, SCRE. Nonscientific expert testimony must satisfy Rule 702, both in terms of expert qualifications and reliability of the subject matter. State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 273, 676 S.E.2d 684, 688 (2009). As long as the trial court is satisfied the *expert's testimony consists of a reliable method*, faithfully and reliably applied, the gate of admissibility should be opened. State v. Warner, 842 S.E.2d 361, 366 (S.C. Ct. App. 2020), reh'g denied (May 28, 2020). (emphasis added)

In State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 771 S.E.2d 336 (2015), Chavis was convicted of one count of criminal sexual conduct with a minor (CSCM) in the first degree, two counts of CSCM in the second degree, one count of lewd act upon a child, and one count of contributing to the

delinquency of a minor. Chavis, at 104, 771 S.E.2d at 337. Two “experts” in child abuse assessment testified at Chavis’ trial, Mrs. Elliot and Mrs. Griggs. Id. at 105–106, 771 S.E.2d at 338.

Chavis argued on appeal that the “experts” should not have been qualified as expert witnesses in the field of child abuse assessment because there was not a sufficient showing of reliability or peer review of their work. Id. at 106–107, 771 S.E.2d at 338. Regarding Mrs. Elliot the state argued that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in qualifying her as an expert witness because “Mrs. Elliot’s training, education, knowledge of RATAAC² protocol, and evidence of her performing over 5000 interviews.” Id. at 107, 771 S.E.2d at 339. The state also argued that the RATAAC protocol is peer reviewed and reliable. Id.

During cross examination of Mrs. Elliot at trial she was asked if she could discern what her error rate was and she said, “no.” Id. at 108, 771 S.E.2d at 339. Elliot explained that the peer review of her work was one other interviewer who reviewed her work to ensure she was using RATAAC protocol. Id.

Our Supreme Court stated that the five-thousand interviews Elliot conducted did not ensure reliability “without some evidence demonstrating that the individual expert is able to draw reliable results from the procedures of which he or she consistently applies.” Id. Accordingly, the Court held the trial court abused its discretion when it admitted Elliot as an expert in child abuse assessment because there was “no evidence... as to Mrs. Elliot’s ability to draw reliable results from the RATAAC procedures she consistently follows, and thus [found] that the threshold reliability requirement of Rule 702 is not met.” Id.

² RATAAC stands for Rapport; Anatomy; Touch; Abuse Scenario; and Closure. Chavis, at 118, 771 S.E.2d at 345, footnote 3.

Regarding Griggs, the Court did not reach the issue as to whether her testimony was also inherently unreliable. Id. at 108–109, 771 S.E.2d at 340. Instead the Court held that, assuming Griggs was properly qualified, the trial court erred in allowing her testimony recommending Appellant not be around the victim for any reason because it improperly bolstered the victim’s credibility. Id. However, the Court held those errors by the trial court were harmless in light of the substantial evidence of guilt independent of the experts’ testimony. Id. at 109–110, 771 S.E.2d at 340–341.

In Jamison v. Morris, 385 S.C. 215, 684 S.E.2d 168 (2009), Rule 702 SCRE was analyzed in the civil context where the South Carolina Supreme Court held that an otherwise qualified expert may not testify as an expert on inherently unreliable data. Jamison, at 229, 684 S.E.2d at 175. In Jamison, the passenger of a car brought a personal injury action against a gas station, where an underage driver allegedly bought alcohol; the gasoline company; and the “jobber” that sold gas to the gas station, asserting that the gas station was negligent and that the company and the “jobber” were vicariously liable. Id. at 219–220, 684 S.E.2d at 170–171.

During the trial, the court determined that the results of blood-alcohol content (BAC) test of the driver of the car was inadmissible because the state could not demonstrate the chain of custody as far as practicable. Id. at 227–228, 684 S.E.2d at 173–174. However, the court allowed the expert testimony of Dr. Crane, “in reliance of the [BAC] test, but not as to the result itself.” Id.

The Court in Jamison held that the trial court erred in admitting the expert testimony from Dr. Crane because the failures in the chain of custody made the BAC test inherently unreliable. Id. at 228, 684 S.E.2d at 175. The Court stated, “Here, the trial judge performed this duty and held that the S.L.E.D. result was not reliable because he found that Jamison did not

prove a chain of custody insofar as practicable. Having made that finding, the judge erred in allowing Dr. Crane to give an opinion based on that result. *An expert cannot testify to an opinion predicated on an unreliable test.*” Id., at 228, 684 S.E.2d at 175. (emphasis added)

In the present case, Alyssa Rheingold’s opinion was predicated on unreliable studies. R. 104, l. 18 – 111, l. 12. Rheingold testified that her expertise was based in part on her experience with past patients. R. 135, l. 9 – 138, l. 15. However, she admitted during proffered cross examination that much of her testimony was predicated on studies she did not conduct. Id.; R. 161, l. 22 – 163, l. 2.

Trial counsel asked Rheingold about how the studies she did not control herself were conducted and she had to admit that the subjects used were anonymous. R. 137, ll. 15 – 24. Moreover, the subjects self-reported their domestic violence stories without any corroboration of their claims. R. 160, l. 13 – 161, l. 21. Due to the nature of the studies being self-reported and anonymous there was no way to verify the accuracy of the studies’ findings. Accordingly, Rheingold’s testimony was predicated on unreliable data and the trial court erred in admitting her testimony as an expert in domestic violence dynamics.

The trial court’s admission of testimony from an “expert” that relied on self-reported, anonymous studies was error given the court’s gatekeeping function on reliability. If the statistics in the anonymous, self-reported studies Rheingold relied on were fabricated, there would be no way for a peer-reviewer to discover it. Therefore, the peer-reviewer would believe that the study, and its conclusions, were legitimate without knowing it was not reliable.

Trial counsel pointed out another flaw in the methodology of the studies Rheingold used for her testimony. The definition of domestic violence in those studies was wider than the definition of domestic violence under South Carolina law. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-20; R. 135, l.

9 – 138, l. 15; R. 160, ll. 6 – 12. As a result, the behavioral statistics that Rheingold relied on to form her “expert” opinion included subjects who were not domestic violence victims under South Carolina law. Therefore, the findings of the studies could be easily skewed. Accordingly, the lower court erred when it admitted Rheingold as an expert in criminal domestic violence dynamics because her testimony was predicated on unreliable studies which rendered her expert opinion inherently unreliable.

Rheingold testified about the definition of a domestic violence victim; the demeanor and behavior of domestic violence victims; the “impact of trauma”; how a “typical victim” reacts; the “conflicting emotions” experienced by victims; why a victim might forgive an abuser; why a victim might stay in the relationship; why it is not unusual for a victim to fill out a “drop charge form”; and that it is not unusual for a victim to recant their allegation. R. 130, l. 25 – 136, l. 4; R. 155, l. 7 – 158, l. 7. As seen above, Rheingold’s testimony mirrored Ragin’s actions in this case. R. 24, l. 22 – 25, l. 15, R. 31, l. 16 – 32, l. 24; R. 33, l. 24 – 35, l. 16; R. 130, l. 25 – 136, l. 4; R. 155, l. 7 – 158, l. 7. Thus, the court’s erroneous admission of the “expert” testimony prejudiced Appellant because Rheingold’s inherently unreliable testimony suggested to the jury that Ragin was a victim of domestic violence and that Appellant was the perpetrator.

CONCLUSION

By reason of the foregoing arguments, Appellant's conviction should be reversed, and his case remanded to the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas for a new trial.



Victor R Seeger
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT