STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
Sep 29 2020
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

Court of General Sessions
The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001002

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JEROME KEITH WEST,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting St.
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1905

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Expert testimony should be admitted only if it is reliable. In this domestic violence prosecution involving victim recantation, the trial court considered proffered expert testimony about domestic violence dynamics. The expert testified her opinion was based on her extensive education, clinical experience, and knowledge of peer-reviewed studies conducted in line with professional norms. Did the court err by finding the testimony reliable?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Charleston County grand jury indicted Appellant Jerome West for Domestic Violence in the Second Degree. He proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson on June 11–12, 2019. He was convicted and sentenced to three years' incarceration. (R.p.248). This direct appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A Charleston County sheriff's deputy responded to a call of a disturbance at the home of Shanika West, the sister of Appellant Jerome West. (R.p.64; 27). West and his girlfriend, Crystal Ragin, were living there at the time. (R.p.27). Shanika West told the officer Jerome was drunk and causing a scene. (R.p.64). After a brief investigation, Appellant West agreed to leave the residence. He gathered some belongings and the deputy agreed to give him a ride to a friend's house. West was yelling belligerently and insulting Ragin. (R.p.68; State's Exhibit#1). As the officer attempted to coax West towards his cruiser, West walked over to Ragin, claiming he wanted to tell her goodbye. (R.p.68; State's Exhibit #1). Instead, West punched Ragin in the face. (State's Exhibit #1, R.p.32; 68–69).

The deputy's body camera recorded the interaction and the video was admitted at trial. (State's Exhibit #1). West's fist cannot clearly be seen making contact with Ragin's face in the video. However, both Ragin and the deputy testified West punched Ragin in the face. (R.p.32; 68). The deputy testified he was six to eight feet away when it happened and saw it clearly. (R.p.68–69). He took pictures of a red mark on Ragin's face. (R.p.70). After punching Ragin, West walked off stating he was "ready to go to jail." (R.p.69; State's Exhibit #1). Children witnessed the attack and West had previously been convicted of Domestic Violence. (R.p.8; 14–15; 88). Due to these aggravating factors, the State charged West with Domestic Violence in the Second Degree.

Expert testimony about domestic violence victim recantation.

The victim admitted during her testimony that she submitted a “drop charge” request after West’s arrest in which she claimed West never actually hit her, but that she slipped and fell. She admitted at trial that she “didn’t say . . . what really happened” in her drop charge request. (R.p.35). She explained, “[s]ometimes when you care for someone, you think you’re in love, you just do those types of things; so I did reach out to him.” (R.p.35). She admitted she requested the charges be dropped because she loved him and “did not want him in trouble.” (R.p.45).

Subsequently, West raised an objection to the testimony of the State’s planned expert witness, Dr. Alice Rheingold. Dr. Rheingold is a clinical psychologist specializing in treatment of victims recovering from trauma, including domestic violence-related trauma. (R.p.116-120). West raised concerns about the extent of Dr. Rheingold’s testimony and requested “that she be limited to . . . why people cover for their perpetrators, and why they still have contact with them afterward and why they move to drop charges.” (R.p.106). West further requested a hearing on the reliability of Dr. Rheingold’s testimony.

The State proffered Dr. Rheingold’s testimony. She testified generally about trauma-induced behavior in domestic violence victims, including the tendency for victims to recant inculcating statements and reconcile with abusers. (R.p.116-42). When asked how she formed her opinion regarding behavior of domestic violence victims, Dr. Rheingold explained her opinion was based on “a combination of synthesizing research studies, as well as my experience in working with roughly

200 domestic violence victims within our clinic.” (R.p.135). Dr. Rheingold referred specifically to studies that anonymously surveyed 16,000, 12,000, 10,000, and 4,000 domestic violence victims, respectively. (R.p.136-38). She explained they were all peer-reviewed. (R.p.141). She further testified the methodology was “industrywide” and accepted within the field. (R.p.142). The trial court found that “clearly, they meet the reliability test,” and ruled the testimony was admissible. (R.p.143).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The qualification of an expert witness and the admissibility of the expert's testimony are matters within the trial court's sound discretion. A trial court's decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court are either controlled by an error of law or are based on unsupported factual conclusions. State v. Prather, 429 S.C. 583, 598, 840 S.E.2d 551, 559 (2020).

ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly performed its gatekeeping role by probing the reliability of expert testimony about domestic violence dynamics, and evidence supports the trial court's ruling allowing the testimony.

The trial court correctly performed its gatekeeping role by holding a hearing to determine the utility and reliability of expert testimony about behavioral patterns in victims of domestic abuse. The expert explained that her testimony was based on her extensive education, clinical experience, and knowledge of relevant academic literature. The expert relied in part on academic studies, and she explained the studies were peer-reviewed and used methodology that is accepted within the field. Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding the testimony reliable. This Court should affirm.

“If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.” Rule 702, SCRE. “In determining whether to admit expert testimony, the trial court must make three inquiries: (1) whether the evidence will assist the trier of fact; (2) whether the expert has acquired the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert in that particular subject matter, and (3) whether the substance of the testimony is reliable.” State v. Jones, 423 S.C. 631, 636, 817 S.E.2d 268, 270 (2018). “The facts or data in the particular case upon which an expert bases an opinion or inference may be those perceived by or made known to the expert at or before the hearing. If of a type

reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field in forming opinions or inferences upon the subject, the facts or data need not be admissible in evidence.”

Rule 703, SCRE.

West alleges Dr. Rheingold’s testimony was unreliable. Specifically, he complains that her opinion was based on “unreliable studies.” Brief of Appellant at 6. He claims the studies used “unverifiable methodology” because the data collected from domestic violence victims was not “corroborated.” Brief of Appellant at 9.

West’s bare assertions of unreliability are unsupported by any testimony, secondary sources, or evidence of any kind. He does not address the fact that it would be impossible to “corroborate” the statements of domestic violence victims in the vast majority of cases. Nor does he address the fact that the studies in question are purposefully performed anonymously. (R.p.137-38). The only testimony presented at trial regarding the reliability of the studies was that of Dr. Rheingold, who testified the methodology used in the studies is accepted “industrywide.” (R.p.142). This evidence alone supports the trial court’s ruling and thus meets the applicable abuse of discretion standard of review. See also State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 266, 721 S.E.2d 413, 419–20 (2011) (explaining “anecdotal history is routinely relied on by medical professionals in fulfilling their duties under [South Carolina’s cause of death statute]”); Myers, Bays, Becker, Berliner, Corwin & Saywitz, Expert Testimony in Child Sexual Abuse Litigation, 68 Neb. L. Rev. 1, 8–9 (1989) (explaining “physicians and other helping professionals constantly and necessarily rely on hearsay to make the most momentous medical decisions”).

Moreover, West ignores the fact that Dr. Rheingold's opinion was not based exclusively on the academic studies in question. On the contrary, her opinion was based at least in part on her education and experience as a practitioner. Dr. Rhiengold holds a master's degree in psychology and a doctorate in clinical psychology. (R.p.117). She has published "almost 50 peer reviewed articles, primarily in the area of trauma victimization, and about 20 more book chapters and additional writings." (R.p.118). She is an experienced practitioner of clinical psychology and treats domestic violence victims as a part of her work. (R.p.120, lines 4–6). She teaches students how to treat domestic violence victims and "oversee[s] our outpatient clinics" providing "trauma focused treatment." (R.p.116-17). In response to inquiry from the trial court, Dr. Rheingold specifically testified that her opinion was based on "a combination of synthesizing research studies, as well as my experience in working with roughly 200 domestic violence victims within our clinic." (R.p.135). See Rule 702, SCRE (allowing expert testimony based on education, knowledge, or experience). Surely, Dr. Rheingold's personal observations and experiences as a practitioner are a reliable source of expertise.

The South Carolina Supreme Court addressed a claim of error strikingly similar to West's in State v. Jones, 423 S.C. 631, 817 S.E.2d 268 (2018). In that case, Jones challenged the admission of expert testimony about delayed disclosure in sexual abuse cases, alleging the trial court had failed to adequately vet the basis of the expert's opinion. In rejecting his claim, the Supreme Court noted that expert "explained her opinions were supported by peer-reviewed professional journals and

trade publications, all of which were uniformly accepted and recognized by child sexual abuse experts and professionals.” Jones, 423 S.C. at 639, 817 S.E.2d at 272.

The Court elaborated:

We find Jones's argument conflates reliability with perfection. There is always a possibility that an expert witness's opinions are incorrect. However, whether to accept the expert's opinions or not is a matter for the jury to decide. Trial courts are tasked only with determining whether the basis for the expert's opinion is sufficiently reliable such that it be may offered into evidence. Here, Galloway-Williams met the threshold reliability requirement when she **testified her methods were published in professional articles and trade publications, subject to peer review, and uniformly accepted and relied upon by other professionals in the field.** Accordingly, we affirm the trial judge's finding.

Jones, 423 S.C. at 639–40, 817 S.E.2d at 272 (emphasis added).

Finally, this case is distinguishable from those in which experts improperly bolstered the testimony of CSC victims by conveying a belief that the victims were telling the truth or suggesting that a particular interviewing technique could induce or guarantee a truthful response. See, e.g. State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 771 S.E.2d 336 (2015). Dr. Rheingold’s testimony is a textbook example of proper behavioral evidence from a qualified expert. She did not claim to have personal knowledge of the facts of this case, and had never met the victim. As a “blind expert,” she gave a general opinion about behavioral patterns of domestic violence victims based on her education, knowledge, and experience. This Court should affirm the admission of her testimony.

Prejudice

Even if the trial court erred by allowing the expert testimony, the error was harmless. The crime was captured on video. While the video is dark and the assault cannot be fully seen, it is obvious that West strikes the victim. (R.p.53). West lunges forward, the victim screams, a slap can be heard, and the officer exclaims, “come on Jerome!” (State’s Exhibit #1 at 17:15). West can be heard declaring he was “ready to go to jail,” and the officer can be heard telling dispatch West “punched a female in the face.” The victim then showed the officer where West hit her. When ruling on the video’s admissibility, the trial court noted “it’s clear that he hit her. . . .” (R.p.53). The video strongly corroborates both the officer’s and victim’s trial testimony. It also illustrates West’s violent demeanor and the victim’s subservient attitude towards him. West was obviously guilty, and he would have been convicted without the expert testimony. State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 448, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011) (“Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.”). Accordingly, any error in the admission of the expert testimony was harmless. This Court should affirm.

CONCLUSION


For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.